1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2 No. 82740

3
4 **JORGE MENDOZA,**

5
6 Appellant,

7
8 vs.

9 **THE STATE OF NEVADA,**

10 Respondent.

11
12 **Appeal from the Postconviction Denial of Relief for Writ of Habeas**
13 **Corpus - Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**
14 **The Honorable Judge Bitá Yeager 8th Judicial District Court Judge**
15 **Department 1, Presiding, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and**
16 **Order Issued April 2, 2021, District Court Case No. A-19-804157-W**

17
18 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

19 **DIANE C. LOWE, ESQ.**
20 **Lowe Law, L.L.C.**
21 **7350 West Centennial Pkwy #3085**
22 **Las Vegas, Nevada 89113**
23 **(725) 212-2451**

6
7
8 September 2, 2021

9
10 s/ Diane C. Lowe

11 DIANE C. LOWE, ESQ.
12 LOWE LAW, LLC
13 7350 West Centennial Pkwy #3085
14 Las Vegas, NV 89131
15 (725) 212-2451
16 Attorney for Appellant

1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**
2 _____

3 JORGE MENDOZA,) NO. 82740
4)
5 Appellant,)
6)
7 vs.)
8)
9)
10)
11)

12 **APPELLANT’S OPENING BRIEF**

13 **I. ROUTING STATEMENT**

14 Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(3), this proceeding invokes the original
15 jurisdiction of the Supreme Court and is not presumptively assigned to the
16 Court of Appeals because it is a post-conviction appeal to a judgment of
17 conviction and postconviction writ of habeas action for a jury trial verdict
18 involving a category A felony and six category B felonies. XIII:3013-6.

19 **II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

20 N.R.S. 177.015 gives this Court jurisdiction to review an appeal from a
21 jury verdict. This is an appeal from the denial of a post-conviction petition
22 for writ of habeas corpus in Jorge Mendoza vs. Warden, William Gittere,
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 Civil Case No. A-19-804157-W. XVII:3741-43. The written judgment of
2 conviction was filed on December 2, 2016, for the companion criminal case
3 C-15-303991-1. XIII:3013-6. The trial court denied post-conviction relief
4 initially orally at the hearing on the briefings February 23, 2021. XVII:3628-
5 82 at 3679-81 The Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law
6 and Order was filed and served by Odyssey eServe April 2, 2021. XVII:
7 3692-740. A timely notice of appeal was filed on April 5, 2021.
8 XVII:13741-43.

13 **III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

15 1. Trial Attorney Wolfbrandt ineffectively and prejudicially
16 violated Mr. Mendoza's Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment
17 constitutional rights and rights under Article 1 section 8 of the
18 Nevada Constitution by providing inaccurate statements of self-
19 defense law to him.

20 2. Trial Attorney Wolfbrandt ineffectively and prejudicially
21 provided inaccurate statements of law to the jury in his opening
22 statement and closing argument and wrongly advised the jury
23 that Jorge was the defendant who caused the death of Gibson.

24 3. Trial Attorney Wolfbrandt ineffectively and prejudicially
25 failed to cross examine witnesses to effectively show there was
26 evidence showing Jorge might not have been the shooter that
27 caused the death of Monty Gibson.

28 4. Trial Attorney Wolfbrandt ineffectively and prejudicially
Failed to move to suppress statements made to the Police by Mr.
Mendoza at the hospital.

1
2
3
4 **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

5 Jorge Mendoza was convicted of First-Degree Murder with use of a
6 deadly weapon and 6 Felony B crimes after a 19-day jury trial which resulted,
7 for him, in an aggregate sentence of 23 years to Life imprisonment on
8 December 12, 2016, the Honorable Judge Carolyn Ellsworth presiding
9 throughout. XIII:3013-6. Three of five co-defendants - Jorge Mendoza,
10 Joseph Larson and David Murphy were tried together, despite efforts to sever
11 the cases. XI:2569-86. Joseph Laguna was convicted of Second-Degree
12 Murder and 6 Felony B Counts. His aggregate sentence was 27 years to life.
13 XIII:3007-8. David Murphy was convicted of Second-Degree Murder and 6
14 Felony B Counts. His aggregate sentence was 23 years to life. XIII:3008-9.
15
16
17
18

19 The first Indictment was electronically filed with the District Court
20 January 30, 2015. I:20-6. The Superseding Indictment filed February 27,
21 2015, added Joseph Laguna (aka Montone, Joey) as a defendant joining Jorge
22 Mendoza, Summer Larsen, and David Murphy (aka Dough Boy, Duboy) and
23 dropping Defendant Robert Figueroa, who had taken a plea deal. I:27-33. A
24 Second Superseding Indictment was filed May 29, 2015, adding at the end,
25 the name of a witness that testified at the Grand Jury – Justin Brening. I:40
26
27
28

1 line 2. The date of occurrence was Sunday September 21, 2014. I:1. The 7
2 crimes charged included 6 felony B crimes and one Felony A crime:

3 Count 1 Conspiracy to Commit Robbery (Category B Felony – NRS 199.408,
4 200.380 – NOC 50147);

6 Count 2 Burglary while in Possession of a Deadly Weapon (Category B
7 Felony – N.R.S. 205.060 – NOC 50426);

9 Count 3 Home Invasion while in Possession of a Deadly Weapon (Category
10 B Felony – N.R.S. 205.067 - NOC 5037);

12 Count 4 Attempted Robbery with use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B
13 Felony – N.R.S. 193.330, 200.380, 193.165 - NOC 50145);

15 Count 5 Attempted Robbery with use of a Deadly Weapon – (Category B
16 Felony - NRS 193.330, 200.380, 193.165 - NOC 50145);

17 Count 6 Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon – (Category A Felony – NRS
18 200.010, 200.030, 193.165 – NOC 50001);

20 Count 7 Attempt Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon – (Category B Felony
21 – NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.330, 193.165 – NOC 50031).

23 1AA13-19. 1AA27-33.

24 Mr. Mendoza was arraigned on February 23, 2015 and plead not guilty
25 with his appointed Attorney William Wolfbrandt by his side. I:19.
26
27
28

1 As to the two codefendants not tried with the other three defendants -
2 Summer Larsen (fka Rice) got a plea deal with the State in exchange for her
3 testimony. She was sentenced on count 1 conspiracy to commit robbery to 1
4 to 4 years and on count 2 attempt robbery to 1 year 4 months to 6 years. C-
5 15-303991-3. Deal: V:1018. Testimony: Jury Trial Day 6: V:1109-36 Jury
6 Trial Day 7: V:1141-232.
7
8

9 Robert Figueroa also got a deal. And he was given an aggregate
10 sentence of 5.6 to 19 years for robbery and robbery with use of a deadly
11 weapon in case C-15-303991-2. VIII:1810-3. Testimony Jury Trial Day 10
12 VIII:1804-46. Day 11 VIII:1850, 1853-991. Day 12 VII:1995
13
14

15 Joseph Larsen, the roommate of deceased victim Monty Gibson
16 testified at the second Grand Jury hearing under protest but did not testify at
17 the jury trial. XIV:3153-81.
18

19 The 19-day jury trial commenced September 12, 2016. I:60.
20 Throughout the entirety the lawyers and Judge were:
21 Judge Carolyn Ellsworth, For the State Marc DiGiacomo, Agnes M. Lexis,
22 For Defendant Mendoza: William L Wolfbrandt, For Defendant Murphy
23 Casey A. Landis, For Defendant Laguna Monique A McNeill. I:60.
24 Voir dire lasted 4 days. Jury Trial Day 1: I:60-202. Jury Trial Day 2 I:203-
25 50, II:251-377. Jury Trial Day 3: II:378-500, III:501-605. Jury Trial Day 4
26
27
28

1 III:606-750, IV:751-802. The State presented 22 witnesses and rested their
2 case on September 30, 2016, the fourteenth day of a nineteen-day jury trial.
3 (tr. p. 74) X:2382.
4

5
6 Jorge Mendoza testified after the State rested. Jury Trial Day 14. (tr.
7 p. 4-18) X:2386-500, XI:2501-13, XI:2514-39. The two other defendants
8 introduced three defense witnesses. XI:2587-2717.
9

10
11 The short Sentencing Hearing for the three defendants was November
12 28, 2016. Mr. Mendoza declined his opportunity to address the court. The
13 Judgment of Conviction was filed on December 2, 2016. XIII:3013-6.
14

15 Attorney William Wolfbrandt was Jorge's trial attorney. Attorney Amanda
16 Gregory handled his appeal – Nevada Supreme Court Case 72056. Her
17 Notice of Appeal was filed December 22, 2016. XIII:3017.
18

19 There was Oral Argument before the Court of Appeals, Chief Judge
20 Silver Presiding on October 16, 2018. Mr. Mendoza lost. The Order of
21 Affirmance was filed October 30, 2018. XV:3374-78. Remittitur issued and
22 received by the District Court Clerk November 29, 2018.
23

24
25 On October 18, 2019, Mr. Mendoza filed a timely 8-page Petition for
26 Writ of Habeas Corpus. XV:3379-87. The Evidentiary Hearing was set for
27 February 23, 2021. XVII:3627. XVII:3628-82. Two witnesses were
28

1 presented for testimony. Former Attorney Lew Wolfbrandt and Convict
2 Jorge Mendoza. XVII:3629.

3 Judge Yeager made an immediate oral bench ruling at the end of the
4 hearing denying relief. XVII:3679. Her written Findings of Fact,
5 Conclusions of Law & Order were filed April 2, 2021. XVII:A3692-4740. A
6 timely Notice of Appeal was filed April 5, 2021. XVII:3741-3.
7
8

9 10 **V. STATEMENT OF FACTS** 11

12 On September 21, 2014, Monty Gibson was shot and killed at a house
13 in Las Vegas that he shared with Joey Larsen, after 3 men, Robert Figueroa,
14 Joseph Laguna, and Jorge Mendoza, broke down their door with the intent to
15 steal marijuana. I:1-6. Figueroa was shot and struck twice with bullets by
16 Larsen. XIV:3162. The three men immediately turned and ran away from the
17 house. X:2460-1.
18

19
20 When Jorge was running from the house he was shot by Larsen and fell
21 to the ground in the middle of the street. IV:876-7; XI:1420, 1430; XIII:1844.
22 Neighbor Gene Walker saw Murphy and Laguna drive by and stop at Jorge,
23 seeing he was injured, did not pick him up and then drove off. IV:881-4.
24 IX:2188.
25
26
27
28

1 Murphy had dropped the three off in the driveway and parked the car
2 on the street just before the home invasion and waited for them to exit the
3 house so he could drive them away. VIII:1837-8.
4

5
6 Figueroa testified that when he was running away, he was still hearing
7 gunshots but denies firing his weapon. VIII:1856. He also stated that while
8 he was looking back, he did not see Jorge or Laguna firing. VIII:1857. And
9 that he saw Murphy drive up – Laguna ran up to the driveway and got in the
10 car and they sped away. VIII:1842. Neighbor Roger Day, a retired
11 correctional officer stated he saw Figueroa shooting but not Mendoza.
12 XIV:1308-9. Figueroa and Jorge were each stranded injured with bullets on
13 separate parts of the street. Figueroa hid in the bushes for eight to nine hours
14 bleeding from his 2 gunshot wounds. VIII: 1844. XIV:3141. Ultimately, he
15 was able to reach his sister who came to pick him up around 6 a.m.
16 September 22. VIII:1862. He was arrested October 20, 2014, 29 days after
17 the crime, when police surrounded him as he was leaving his apartment.
18 VIII:1866.
19
20
21
22
23

24
25
26 After Jorge was struck by a bullet and had fallen to the ground in the
27 middle of the street, he drug himself to a neighbor's truck to hide. IV:869;
28

1 876-7; XI:1420, 1430; XIII:1844. The police came almost immediately
2 having gotten several 911 calls. XIV:3069-70. Not far from the scene they
3 found Jorge's blood trail which led to a neighbor's truck. XIV:3185-6. He
4 was ordered out of the truck and handcuffed. IV:919 lines 9-13. An
5 ambulance arrived. He was given morphine. He was rushed to the hospital.
6 He was given morphine again on arrival. Indication pain. Time 23:06
7 9/21/14. XVI:3602.

10 Detectives Tod Williams and Merrick questioned him twice at UMC
11 hospital just after the crime – minutes after he was given his second morphine
12 dose so he was sedated, in much pain and awaiting surgery to have a bullet
13 removed from his femur. XVI:3487-3539. XVI:3540-56. VII:1562-4.

16 All involved were charged with murder and related crimes stemming
17 from this incident. IAA1-18. Figueroa got a plea deal from the State for
18 testifying against everyone [Jury Trial Days 10, 11, 12] as did Summer
19 Larsen who participated in the initial planning stages of the crime. Jury Trial
20 Day 9. Mr. Mendoza, Mr. Murphy and Mr. Laguna proceeded to a jury trial.

23 **VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

24 "The question of whether a defendant has
25 received ineffective assistance of counsel at trial is a mixed question of law
26
27
28

1 and fact and is thus subject to independent review. State v. Love, 109 Nev.
2 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at
3 698). However, purely factual findings of the district court are entitled to
4 deference on appeal. Riley v. State, 110 Nev. 638, 647, 878 P.2d 272, 278
5 (1994).” Whorton v. Sheppard, No. 54284, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 72, at *1-2
6 (June 23, 2010). An appellate court reviews de novo the denial of a petition
7 for a writ of habeas corpus. Shackleford v. Hubbard, 234 F.3d 1072, 1074
8 (9th Cir. 2000).

13 VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

14
15 Based on the legal advice of his trial attorney who insisted to him that
16 he had grounds for self-defense under Nevada law - Jorge waived his right to
17 remain silent and took responsibility for the death of Monty Gibson.
18 XV3454-7. This incorrect statement of law and advice was ineffective and
19 prejudicial in and of itself, but also a form of coercion which deprived him of
20 his fifth amendment right not to testify and justifies a reversal of his
21 conviction. It additionally violated his 14th Amendment due process rights
22 and his sixth amendment right to effective assistance of counsel as well as
23 those rights afforded to him under Article 1 section 8 of the Nevada
24 Constitution. Prejudice should be presumed. When someone is made false
25
26
27
28

1 promises in exchange for their statement to police or commits to a plea
2 agreement it can invalidate the plea and lead to a suppression of the
3 statement. Here we argue that the inaccurate statement of self-defense law
4 was of such great magnitude, and was relied on completely by Jorge to make
5 his determination to testify and assent to trial strategy - that a similar result,
6 in this case a new trial – should occur. There was some evidence that another
7 shooter could have caused the death of Gibson. One neighbor said he saw
8 Figueroa shooting. XIV:1308-9. Another neighbor said he saw Murphy and
9 Laguna right next to Jorge in the street. VI:1401-12. Figueroa testified that
10 as he was running away he looked back and saw Murphy Laguna and Jorge in
11 the street. VIII:1857 So Jorge was not the only one left on the scene at the
12 time of the shooting. The guns that were collected by police that day were the
13 two of the victim / shooter who lived – Joseph Larson. XIV:3160. And the
14 gun of Jorge. VII:1550, VIII:1383, X:2449. The guns of the other three
15 defendants were not located at the scene. The record never conclusively
16 establishes that the ringleader Murphy had a gun, but he probably did. The
17 record does establish that Laguna and Figueroa had guns. VII:1833,
18 VII:1553. Laguna's gun does not appear to have ever been requested of him
19 upon his arrest. Figueroa claimed to have advised the police as to where they
20 could find his gun. But there is some dispute on whether he was being
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 truthful about the exact gun or guns he had on him that day. Ultimately the
2 police retrieved a gun from his girlfriend that he says is what he had.
3 VIII:1859, 1882. It along with Jorge's gun and Larson's gun were forwarded
4 to the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Departments forensic scientist Anya
5 Lester in the firearms and toolmarks analyst unit for testing and comparison
6 with the cartridges found on the scene and the bullet and fragment found in
7 the autopsy of Gibson. VI:1299-1309. Lester testified that though the bullet
8 and fragment from the autopsy shared similar general characteristics with the
9 rifle Jorge had on him that day – she was not able to conclusively identify it
10 to said rifle. VI:1308. But she was able to rule out that the other victim's
11 two surrendered weapons had caused his death as well as the gun surrendered
12 over 28 days later by Figueroa. VI:1308.

13
14
15
16
17 Jorge was convicted of first-degree murder. His 2 codefendants were
18 convicted of second-degree murder. This is clear evidence that had he not
19 testified he would have been convicted of second-degree murder as well.
20
21 There is no one who saw him shooting. Not Figueroa, not any of the
22 neighbors. In fact, the one neighbor who did see a shooter said it was
23 Figueroa. XIV:1308-9. And while Mr. Wolfbrandt advised his client that
24 evidence showed none of the other defendant's were on the scene at the time
25 – a second neighbor told police that after the shooting he saw Murphy and
26
27
28

1 Laguna drive by Jorge injured in the street, stop and then drive away.
2 VI:1401-12. And Figueroa testified that while he was running away he
3 looked back and saw Jorge and Laguna. So all four defendants were still on
4 the scene and should not have been ruled out as the shooter that caused the
5 death.
6

7
8 A reasonable attorney would have done research on self-defense before
9 giving his client such inaccurate advice. A reasonable attorney would have
10 had a firm grasp on the law of the case and the facts alleged. Mr. Wolfbrandt
11 did not. XVII:3635. Likewise, a reasonable attorney would have requested
12 from the judge before his client testified - a ruling on whether self-defense
13 jury instructions would be allowed, or at the very least advised his client that
14 the instructions had not been approved yet so he could factor that into his
15 decision making. XVII:3636 line 1125.
16
17
18

19 And because of his ineffective prejudicial decision to pursue a self-
20 defense argument he overlooked all other possible avenues of representation
21 such as highlighting to the jury that it was Figueroa who was seen shooting
22 not Mendoza. And noting that Laguna and Murphy should not be ruled out
23 as the ones who could have caused the death. The coroner determined based
24 on the evidence it was his belief the shooter was four or more feet away from
25
26
27
28

1 Gibson at the time of shooting. VI:1333. This does not rule out any of the
2 defendants from having caused the death.

3 Further, much like Swanson – by giving the wrong law in opening
4 statement and closing argument hand in hand with telling the jury that his
5 client was the one whose bullet caused the death – even though he admitted at
6 the postconviction hearing he did not know this for certain – he in essence,
7 after the cancellation effect of the correct jury instructions, went up and told
8 the jury that Jorge was guilty of everything. IV:854-6, XII:2873-87,
9 XVII:3636, 3671.
10

11
12
13 And finally by not moving to suppress Mr. Mendoza's hospital
14 statements he not only reduced in the jury's eyes his credibility that he was
15 acting in self-defense when shooting – since his story had so fully diverged –
16 he made the jury dislike him even more. XVII:3637-8. The State played the
17 interview tapes for a reason and they had a negative impact for Mr.
18 Mendoza. XII:2763, 2778. Wolfbrandt should have moved to have
19 them suppressed. He testified "It really didn't matter to me what he told the
20 police because he was in the hospital and was under anesthesia. I'm sure
21 he went through surgery because he had that femur bone shattered."
22 XVII:3638. But it did matter. It was prejudicially ineffective for him not to
23 do so.
24
25
26
27
28

VIII. ARGUMENT

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, “[in] all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right ... to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense.” This court has long recognized that ‘the right to counsel is the right to effective assistance of counsel.’ Strickland v Washington, 466, U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); see also State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel a defendant must prove he was denied “reasonably effective assistance” of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of Strickland. 466 U.S. at 686, 104 S. Ct. at 2063-64; see also Love, 109 Nev at 1138, 865 P.2d at 323. Under the Strickland test, a defendant must show first that his counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for the counsel’s errors there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland at 687-88, 694, 104 S. Ct at 2065, 2068. Warden, Nevada State Prison v Lyons, 100 Nev 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-part test). The Nevada Supreme Court has held “claims of ineffective assistance of counsel must be reviewed under the ‘reasonably effective assistance’ standard articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court in Strickland v Washington,

1 requiring the petitioner to show that counsel's assistance was deficient and
2 that the deficiency prejudiced the defense." Bennett v State, 111 Nev. 1099,
3 1108, 901 P.2d 676, 682 (Nev. 1995), and Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980,
4 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (Nev. 1966).

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