IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JORGE MENDOZA,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Oct 04 2021 11:53 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 82740

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Post-Conviction Petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DIANE C. LOWE, ESQ. Nevada Bar #014573 Lowe Law, L.L.C. 7350 West Centennial Pkwy., #3085 Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 (725) 212-2451 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

"There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 689. "Strategic choices made by counsel after thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable." Dawson v. State, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); see also Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989). In essence, the

court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066.

The decision not to call witnesses is within the discretion of trial counsel and will not be questioned unless it was a plainly unreasonable decision. *See* Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 38 P.3d 163 (2002); *See also* Dawson v. State, 108 Nev. 112, 825 P.2d 593 (1992). Strickland does not enact Newton's third law for the presentation of evidence, requiring for every prosecution expert an equal and opposite expert from the defense. In many instances cross-examination will be sufficient to expose defects in an expert's presentation. When defense counsel does not have a solid case, the best strategy can be to say that there is too much doubt about the State's theory for a jury to convict. *See* Harrington v. Richter, 131 S.Ct. 770, 791, 578 F.3d. 944 (2011).

Even if an appellant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. *See* McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (*citing* Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064). Moreover, "[a] reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the

outcome." <u>Id.</u> (*citing* <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2064–65, 2068).

Lastly, an appellant "must prove the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence." Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004). Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel must be supported with specific factual allegations, which would entitle the appellant to relief if true. See Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). Bare and naked allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. See Id.

I. TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN ADVISING APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO TESTIFY

Appellant claims that trial counsel coerced Appellant to testify at trial based on inaccurate statements of law regarding self-defense. *See* Opening Brief, at 21-23. Appellant's claim is without merit.

The Nevada Supreme Court has concluded that to succeed on a claim that counsel was ineffective in preparing a witness to testify, a defendant must show that a witness's testimony is the result of counsel's poor performance. *See* Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989). However, Appellant is unable to make such a showing. Indeed, only two (2) decisions are left entirely to a defendant at trial: whether to represent himself or testify at trial. *See* Lara v. State, 120 Nev. 177,

182 87 P.3d 528, 531 (2004) ("The United States Supreme Court has recognized that an accused has the ultimate authority to make certain fundamental decisions regarding the case, including the decision to testify.").

District courts have "broad discretion" to settle jury instructions. *See* Cortinas v. State, 124 Nev. 1013, 1019, 195 P.3d 315, 319 (2008). District courts' decisions settling jury instructions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See* Crawford v. State, 121 Nev. 746, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2003). This Court reviews whether an instruction is an accurate statement of the law de novo. Cortinas, 124 Nev. at 1019, 195 P.3d at 319. Further, instructional errors are harmless when it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error," and the error is not the type that would undermine certainty in the verdict. Wegner v. State, 116 Nev. 1149, 1155–56, 14 P.3d 25, 30 (2000) (overruled on other grounds by Rosas v. State, 122 Nev. 1258, 147 P.3d 1101 (2006)). *See also*, NRS 178.598.

Moreover, the district court may refuse a jury instruction on the defendant's theory of the case which is substantially covered by other instructions; further, district courts have "broad discretion" to settle jury instructions. *See* Davis v. State, 130 Nev. 136, 145, 321 P.3d 867, 874; *See also* Cortinas, 124 Nev. at 1019, 195 P.3d at 319. Additionally, the appropriateness of a jury instruction "depends upon the

testimony and evidence of that case." <u>Runion v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 1041, 1051, 13 P.3d 52, 59 (2000).

Appellant relies on <u>Lara</u>. However, <u>Lara</u> is not favorable to Appellant; if anything, <u>Lara</u> bolsters the State's position. There, Defendant, belonging to the 18th street gang, discharged his firearm into a 1976 Cadillac, killing a child passenger. <u>Lara</u>, 120 Nev. at 178, 87 P.3d at 529. On appeal from a denial of a petition for a writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction), Defendant argued that his counsel was ineffective for advising him to testify at trial. <u>Id.</u> at 178, 182, 87 P.3d at 528, 531.

There, the Court found counsel was not ineffective for advising Defendant to testify at trial because "the district court canvassed Lara before he took the stand, [] Lara stated that he understood his rights . . . counsel properly advised Lara of his right to testify." Id. Moreover, the Court held, "In light of the evidence against" Defendant "we cannot hold that . . . the outcome at trial would have been different." Id.

Additionally, Appellant misconstrues <u>Runion</u>, in her argument that the initial aggressor has no self-defense claim. There, Defendant, after initiating a verbal confrontation at a red light, discharged his firearm into the victim's car, killing one and injuring another. <u>Runion</u>, 116 Nev. at 1043-44, 13 P.3d at 54. At trial, Defendant testified that he discharged his firearm into the victim's car in self-defense after the victim yelled insults, made gang signs, and flashed his gun at Defendant. <u>Id.</u> at 1045,

13 P.3d at 55. On direct appeal, Defendant argued the district court abused its discretion in refusing to give a self-defense instruction based on apparent danger. <u>Id.</u> at 1045, 1050, 13 P.3d at 55, 58.

There, the Court found that Defendant's testimony supported a self-defense claim based on actual danger, while other evidence suggested a self-defense claim of apparent danger. <u>Id.</u> at 1048, 13 P.3d at 57. However, the Court found that without Defendant's proffered jury instruction or counsel's argument on apparent danger, the jury may have been misled "into concluding that Runion's actions were not justified even if they found that Runion thought Pendergraft had brandished a weapon, but Runion was mistaken in that belief." <u>Id.</u>

Further, the court provide list of jury instruction dealing with self-defense claims:

The killing of another person in self-defense is justified and not unlawful when the person who does the killing actually and reasonably believes:

- 1. That there is imminent danger that the assailant will either kill him or cause him great bodily injury; and
- 2. That it is absolutely necessary under the circumstances for him to use in self-defense force or means that might cause the death of the other person, for the purpose of avoiding death or great bodily injury to himself.

A bare fear of death or great bodily injury is not sufficient to justify a killing. To justify taking the life of another in self-defense, the circumstances must be sufficient to excite the fears of a reasonable person placed in a similar situation. The person killing must act under the influence of those fears alone and not in revenge.

An honest but unreasonable belief in the necessity for selfdefense does not negate malice and does not reduce the offense from murder to manslaughter.

The right of self-defense is not available to an original aggressor, that is a person who has sought a quarrel with the design to force a deadly issue and thus through his fraud, contrivance or fault, to create a real or apparent necessity for making a felonious assault.

However, where a person, without voluntarily seeking, provoking, inviting, or willingly engaging in a difficulty of his own free will, is attacked by an assailant, he has the right to stand his ground and need not retreat when faced with the threat of deadly force.

Actual danger is not necessary to justify a killing in selfdefense. A person has a right to defend from apparent danger to the same extent as he would from actual danger. The person killing is justified if:

- 1. He is confronted by the appearance of imminent danger which arouses in his mind an honest belief and fear that he is about to be killed or suffer great bodily injury; and
- 2. He acts solely upon these appearances and his fear and actual beliefs; and
- 3. A reasonable person in a similar situation would believe himself to be in like danger.

The killing is justified even if it develops afterward that the person killing was mistaken about the extent of the danger.

If evidence of self-defense is present, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did not act in self-defense. If you find that the State has failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did not act in self-defense, you must find the defendant not guilty.

<u>Id.</u> at 1051-52, 13 P.3d at 59. As shown above, and contrary to Appellant's assertion, self-defense law is more complex and fact intensive in determining who may claim self-defense, when one can claim self-defense, and how one may claim self-defense. *See* Opening Brief, at 26. The inquiry does not end by simply saying the initial aggressor "has no self-defense claim." Id.

Here, like in <u>Lara</u>, the district court extensively canvassed Appellant, after which point Appellant decided to testify. X AA 2383-85. Specifically, the district court stated:

THE COURT: later. All right. So, Mr. Mendoza, so under the Constitution of the United States and under the Constitution of the State of Nevada, *you cannot be compelled to testify in a trial*. Do you understand that? DEFENDANT MENDOZA: Yes.

. . .

THE COURT: Okay, thank you. But of course, you may at your own request give up this right and take the witness stand and testify. Now, if you do, you will be subject to cross-examination by the State's attorneys, and anything that you might say either on direct examination or cross-examination is the subject of fair comment to the jury in closing argument by the State. And do you understand that?

DEFENDANT MENDOZA: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Now, if you choose not to testify, the Court would not permit the district attorney to make any comment to the jury about you not testifying. In other words, they can't stand up there and say to a jury, well, he

didn't testify, and therefore, he must be guilty . . . Do you

understand that?

DEFENDANT MENDOZA: Yes.

. .

THE COURT: Do you have any question about any of

those rights?

DEFENDANT MENDOZA: No.

Id.

As shown above, trial counsel asserted no control over Appellant's decision

to testify and could not control whether Appellant would provide the necessary

testimony for a theory of self-defense. Like in <u>Lara</u>, the district court fully canvassed

Appellant and informed him that he *cannot be compelled to testify in a trial*, which

Appellant understood <u>Id.</u> at 2383. Additionally, at no time did Appellant raise any

concerns to the district court regarding the allegations that trial counsel is forcing

him to testify or any clarification regarding the self-defense claim before taking the

stand. Id. at 2383-85.

Moreover, during the evidentiary hearing on February 23, 2021, trial counsel

testified that Appellant agreed with the self-defense claim because it was the best

course of action for Appellant. See XVII AA 3634-36. Specifically, trial counsel

testified on direct examination:

Q Do you recall your representation of Mr. Mendoza?

A Very well.

Q Did you tell him that he had grounds for a self-defense claim and that is how you were going to handle his case?

A I -- as I recall the conversations with him, and there were

numerous conversations, I said our best tactic on this

20

would be to raise a self-defense argument. I didn't see any defense to the burglary, attempt robbery. It was all about the death of the one individual and trying to avoid Mr. Mendoza getting convicted of a murder charge.

Q Did you ever tell him that under the law he might not actually have grounds for self-defense?

A No. I thought we had a righteous defense.

Q Were you acting at the direction of Mr. Mendoza by presenting a self-defense presentation?

A I don't recall it being at his direction, but *I do recall it being mutually agreeable that that was our option*.

. .

Q So you didn't put on a self-defense contrary to law solely because your client said, I don't care, this is what I want you to do?

A Could you repeat that?

Q Sure. My question is, and maybe it's several parts, but - and maybe you've already answered it because you said that you thought there might be grounds in the law for self-defense, but my question is were you kind of iffy on the self-defense presentation but went ahead with it anyway because of your client's insistence? Did you say, no, I don't think we can do this. The law doesn't support it. And he said, I don't care. Do it anyway.

A Well, I believe it was -- I wasn't sure it was going to be successful and we had numerous conversations about that as I recall, and I wasn't aware of any law that was contrary to that argument but it was the only argument we had.

Id. at 3634-35.

On cross-examination, trial counsel testified that he discussed with Appellant his right to testify. *See* Id. 3645. Moreover, trial counsel goes to say:

Q And did you discuss Petitioner's right to testify with him?

A Sure.

Q And then do you recall the Court canvassing the Defendant prior to his testimony about his right to testify and right not to testify?

A Yes.

Q And you had no control over how Petitioner could testify?

A Well, I mean, no, I *couldn't control what came out of his mouth*, but, you know, we had -- we had gone over what our theory was and what questions I was going to ask him and, you know, how I anticipated he was going to answer.

Id.

As shown above, at no point does trial counsel use threatening or forceful language towards Appellant to force him to testify. On the contrary, after lengthy and numerous conversations with his client, the self-defense claim became the "only argument they had." <u>Id.</u> at 3635. According to trial counsel, this is because he was concerned with the felony murder rule. Id. Specifically, trial counsel explains:

[If] I didn't put on any kind of defense against that, you know, the felony murder rule would have kicked in and it was a forgone conclusion that he was going to be convicted of it.

So the only chance we had was to create the circumstance where the felony murder rule no longer applied by saying that he had abandoned and had concluded his role in the burglary, attempt burglary, robbery and was --you know, had abandoned that and was leaving the situation and then he got shot at and returned fire.

Id. at 3645.

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